IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

A CAB, LLC; AND A CAB SERIES,)	Supreme Court No. 77050
LLC,)	District Court No. A-12-669926-C
Appellants,))))	Electronically Filed Aug 05 2020 03:46 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
V.)	Clerk of Supreme Court
)	
MICHAEL MURRAY; AND)	
MICHAEL RENO, INDIVIDUALLY)	
AND ON BEHALF OF ALL OTHERS)	
SIMILARLY SITUATED,)	
)	
Respondents.)	
)	

APPELLANTS OPENING BRIEF

Michael K. Wall (2098) HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC 10080 Alta Drive, Suite 200 Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Esther Rodriguez (6473) RODRIGUEZ LAW OFFICE, P.C 10161 Park Run Drive, Suite 150 Las Vegas, NV 89145

James J. Jimmerson (264) JIMMERSON LAW FIRM 415 S 6th Street, Suite 100 Las Vegas, NV 89101

Attorney for Appellants

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following are persons and entities as described in NRAP 26.1(1), and must be disclosed:

A Cab, LLC, has no parent company and is not publicly traded. There is no

publicly traded company that holds any ownership interest in A Cab, LLC.

A Cab Series, LLC, has no parent company and is not publicly traded.

There is no publicly traded company that holds any ownership interest in A Cab

Series, LLC.

The attorneys who have appeared on behalf of appellant in this Court and in district court are:

Michael K. Wall (2098) HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC 10080 W. Alta Drive, Suite 200 Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Jay A. Shafer (6791) CORY READE DOWS & SHAFER 1333 North Buffalo Drive, Suite 210 Las Vegas, NV 89128 Esther Rodriguez (6473) RODRIGUEZ LAW OFFICE, P.C 10161 Park Run Drive, Suite 150 Las Vegas, NV 89145

James J. Jimmerson (264) JIMMERSON LAW FIRM 415 S 6th Street, Suite 100 Las Vegas, NV 89101

- 111
- 111

These representations are made in order that the judges of this court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

DATED this 5 day of August, 2020.

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC.

Michael K. Wall (2098) Peccole Professional Park 10080 Alta Drive, Suite 200 Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Esther Rodriguez (6473) RODRIGUEZ LAW OFFICE, P.C 10161 Park Run Drive, Suite 150 Las Vegas, NV 89145

James J. Jimmerson (264) JIMMERSON LAW FIRM 415 S 6th Street, Suite 100 Las Vegas, NV 89101

Attorney for Appellants

TABLE OF CONTENTS

NRAP 2	6.1 Disclosure i, ii
Table of	Contents iii, iv, v
Table of	Authorities Cited/ Rules and Statutes vi, vii, viii, viii
Table of	Case Law and Other ix, x, xi, xii
Jurisdicti	onal Statement
Routing	Statement
Statemen	t of the Case
Statemen	t of the Issues
Introduct	ion
Statemen	t of the Facts
А.	Background
В.	Procedural Facts
Summary	of the Argument
Discussio	on
I.	Standard of Appellate Review
II.	The District Court Abused Its Discretion in Severing Claims 33
III.	The District Court Had no Subject Matter Jurisdiction Over Plaintiffs' Complaint Based on the Amount in Controversy

	А.	Nevada's District Courts are Courts of Limited Jurisdiction 37
	В.	The Amendment of NRCP 23 Did Not Retroactively Confer Jurisdiction on the District Court
	C.	The Judgment of the District Court is Void
	D.	Subject Matter Jurisdiction Cannot be Waived and May be Raised at Any Time
	Е.	Only Nevada Legislature Can Change the Jurisdictional Limits of Nevada's Justice and District Courts
	F.	The District Court Did Not Have Subject Matter Jurisdiction Based on Plaintiffs' Summary Request for an Injunction 43
IV.		District Court Erred in Extending the Two Year Statue of actions for Minimum Wage Claims
	А.	The Minimum Wage Amendment Rate Adjustment Provision
	В.	The District Court's "Nonpragmatic" Interpretation Does Not Justify Tolling the Statue of Limitations
	C.	Even if Individual Notices Are Required, the Failure to Provide Such Notices is Not a Legal Basis for Tolling the Statue of Limitation
V.	The I	District Court Erred in Entering Summary Judgment 51
VI.		District Court Erred in Allowing Addition of a New Defendant judgment, and disregarding the Series LLC
	A.	Additional Facts
	B.	NRS 86.296 Permits Series of Limited Liability

regular interfaces

		Corporati	ons 59
	C.	Plaintiffs	Improperly Sought Amendment of the Judgment . 63
			ding and Collecting from New Parties Requires an ependent Act
		The	llecting from a Third Party Requires An Alter Ego eory Action Supported by Substantial Evidence lowing a Trial or Hearing
VII.			xcessive Attorney Fees and Costs Constituted An tion
	А.	-	Procedural Safeguards Were Disregarded by the
	В.		ict Court Abused its Discretion in Awarding Fees, Rewarding Abusive Tactics
Conclusion			
Attorney's	Certifi	cate	xiii, xiv
Certificate of	of Serv	ice	XV

AUTHORITIES CITED RULES AND STATUTES

28 U.S.C. § 1291
JCRCP 23
NAC 608.155
NAC 608.155(1)
Nev. Const. Art. 15, Sec. 16(A) 18, 45
NRAP 4(a) 1
NRAP 3A(b)(1) 1
NRAP 3A(b)(2) 1
NRAP 3A(b)(4) 1
NRAP 3A(b)(8) 1
NRAP $4(a)(6)$
NRAP 17(a)(11)
NRAP 17(a)(12)
NRCP 8(a)(1) 10
NRCP 12(b)(1)
NRCP 12(h)(3)
NRCP 15

NRCP 16.1
NRCP 21 34, 35
NRCP 23 2, 4, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 43
NRCP 23(b)
NRCP 54(d)
NRCP 54(d)(2)(B)
NRCP 56
NRCP 59(e)
NRCP 68 66, 67, 70
NRCP 82
NRPC 1.2
NRPC 1.4
NRS 2.120
NRS 4.370
NRS 11.220
NRS 17.115
NRS 18.110
NRS 86.151 60, 62
NRS 86.296 58, 59, 60

NRS 86.296(2) 57, 60, 62, 63
NRS 86.296(2)(c)
NRS 86.296(3) 62, 63
NRS 86.1255 60, 62
NRS 605.250(2)
NRS 608.040
NRS 608.180
NRS 608.250
NRS 608.250(2)
NRS 608.250(2)(e)
NRS 608.260
NRS 706.8844

CASE LAW

Anderson v. Mt. Clemens Pottery Co., 328 U.S. 680, 686-687 (1946) 54, 55
<i>Anticancer, Inc. v. Pfizer Inc.</i> , No. 11CV107 JLS RBB, 2012 WL 1019796, at *1 (S.D. Cal. Mar. 26, 2012)
<i>Aspen Fin. Services, Inc. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court</i> , 129 Nev. 878, 882, 313 P.3d 875, 878 (2013)
Baer v. Amos J. Walker, Inc., 85 Nev. 219, 220, 452 P.2d 916, 916 (1969) 65
Barmettler v. Reno Air, Inc., 114 Nev. 441, 956 P.2d 1382, 1386 (1998) 52
Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 668 P.2d 268 (1983) 66
<i>Berryman v. Int'l Bhd. of Elec. Workers</i> , 82 Nev. 277, 280, 416 P.2d 387, 388 (1966)
Brunzell v. Golden Gate Nat. Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969) 66
<i>Bulbman Inc. v. Nevada Bell</i> , 108 Nev. 105, 110-11, 825 P.2d 588, 592 (1992)
Butler v. Bogdanovich, 101 Nev. 449, 451, 705 P.2d 662, 663 (1985) 52
<i>Cadle Co. v. Woods & Erickson, LLP</i> , 131 Nev. 114, 120, 345 P.3d 1049, 1054 (2015)
<i>Callie v. Bowling</i> , 123 Nev. 181, 185, 160 P.3d 878, 880 (2007) 63, 64
<i>Castillo v. United Fed. Credit Union</i> , 134 Nev. 13, 16, 409 P.3d 54, 57 (2018) 31, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 43, 44
<i>City of N. Las Vegas v. State Local Gov't Employee-Mgmt. Relations Bd.</i> , 127 Nev. 631, 640, 261 P.3d 1071, 1077 (2011)

Copeland v. Desert Inn Hotel, 99 Nev. 823, 826, 673 P.2d 490, 492 (1983) 50
<i>Cummings v. Charter Hosp. of Las Vegas, Inc.</i> , 111 Nev. 639, 896 P.2d 1137 (1995)
Cutting v. Van Fleet, 252 F. 100 (9th Cir. 1918) 28
<i>Czipott v. Fleigh</i> , 87 Nev. 496, 499, 489 P.2d 681, 683 (1971) 44
Dunphy v. Sheehan, 92 Nev. 259, 265, 549 P.2d 332, 336 (1976) 43