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

DISCUSSION
L. FACTUAL MISSTATEMENTS.

Plaintiffs accuse A Cab of providing a statement of facts that does not
properly cite to the appendix, but a review of the opening brief belies that claim,
A Cab has faithfully set forth the facts with proper citation and support. In
response, plaintiffs have provided two fact sections, each of which is argument
only, supported by citations to plaintiffs’ own arguments below.

The parties view the facts of this case very differently. A Cab will rely on
its supported version of facts in the opening brief, as well as its legal arguments.
Plaintiffs cannot overcome A Cab’s legal arguments regarding the sufficiency (or
lack of sufficiency) of the judgment. This Court is capable of its own analysis of
the record, which does not support plaintiffs’ assertions, but does demonstrate
genuine issues for trial.

In addition, plaintiffs redrafted the issues to make them more palatable to

plaintiffs. It is easy to set up a strawman. A Cab relies on the issues it has raised,



they mandate reversal.
II. LEGAL ARGUMENTS.

A.  The Discovery Non-Issue.

Misrepresenting a single discovery sanction issued in November of 2015,
plaintiffs repeatedly assert that A Cab refused to disclose documents and to
properly participate in discovery. This is untrue. There were a great many
discovery disputes below; if discovery were an issue, the appendix would be
doubled.

No discovery issue is raised in this appeal, but to put the record straight, Jay
Nady was admonished by the discovery commissioner over five years ago for

swearing at his deposition,® and A Cab was sanctioned because the Discovery

At his deposition, at approximately 5:30 p.m., Nady became frustrated:
A.  Mr. Greenberg, you’ve asked me that five times. Five times. Why?
Ms. Sniegocki: We are in the same room. We don’t need to scream.

The Witness: He is infuriating me with his continually asking the same
question. And I don’t like it. I think you’re trying to mess with my mind,
and I don’t like it, Mr. Greenberg. So please discontinue asking the same
question.

By Mr. Greenberg:

Q.  Mr. Morgan, is the sole source of —



Commissioner concluded the deposition of computer consultant Morgan could
have been avoided had A Cab consulted with Morgan regarding how to generate
documents responsive to a request. AA 6847-50. This, and all other discovery
matters, was hotly disputed. The representation of wholesale evasion of discovery
by A Cab is unfounded. On the contrary, plaintiffs engaged in significant
discovery abuse.

A Cab produced all of the tripsheets early in the case. Plaintiffs never
complained during the years of discovery it was too much to analyze these
documents; instead, they sought a different methodology using template
spreadsheets. There were a number of options never explored nor sought by
plaintiffs—digital reading or sending to India/Philippines for inexpensive services.
But plaintiffs did not want to make the effort to look at the source documents kept
in the normal course of business. They were looking for an easier route.

By order of the Discovery Commissioner, A Cab produced tens of
thousands of pages of irrelevant documents plaintiffs insisted they needed to

calculate damages, although it should have been as apparent at the beginning as it

A.  No, he’s not, Mr. Greenberg. That’s not what I said you lying little
shit. That’s not what he said. That’s not what I said. It’s not what I
said. You are misstating it. I said the taxi cab authority was the one
that said it. So he’s not the only one, Mr. Greenberg.
AA 173.



was at the end that the only method to calculate accurate damages was by analysis
of the tripsheets.’” Not only did plaintiffs never analyze the tripsheets, by their
own admission, plaintiffs never even looked at the tens of thousands of pages of
other documents they compelled A Cab to produce. AA 4936. By the end of the
discovery war, A Cab had produced far more than it should have been required to
produce. The Discovery Commissioner did not require more.

The suggestion that summary judgment was required because A Cab
withheld documents or did not participate properly in discovery is a classic
misdirection. The district court appointed a Master to review the tripsheets, which
had been available to plaintiffs almost from the inception of the case. When
A Cab could not pay for this review, the district court blamed A Cab for the lack
of reliable proof of damages, placed the burden on A Cab to prove the case against

itself, and relied for a judgment on information it had previously ruled too

SPlaintiffs misrepresented repeatedly below and again on appeal that A Cab
conceded that the damages for a period covered by the complaint are based on
records A Cab testified were correct. Nady testified that the information in the
Quickbooks is correct, but the damages for any period of time cannot be calculated
from the Quickbooks, because they do not contain necessary information. This
position was consistently maintained by A Cab below, and accepted by Judge
Cory, until he did an about face when he was losing the road race. To be clear,
neither Nady nor A Cab has ever conceded that any of plaintiffs’ estimations of
damages through its speculative methodology has any validity; they are just
numbers picked from a hat.



speculative to support a judgment. This was a road race and Judge Cory won.

B.  The District Court Lacked Subject Matter Jurisdiction.

Plaintiffs concede that absent aggregation of claims, the amount in
controversy is insufficient to support district court jurisdiction.

Plaintiffs assert, as an alternative basis for jurisdiction, they sought
injunctive relief in their complaints, but the complaints plead no separate
injunction claim. AA 4 Complaint (general request for “all relief available to
them” “including appropriate injunctive . . . relief to make the defendants cease
their violations;” AA 79 Amended Complaint (same); AA 589 Second Amended
Complaint (same). Plaintiffs simply requested injunctive relief in their rambling
narrative, but did not specifically plead injunction, the elements of injunction, or
ongoing violation of the MWA. The complaint and all proceedings below focused
on damages for past violation of the MWA. A general request for an injunction
against future violation of the law without a showing of a threatened violation is
improper. Berryman v. Int'l Bhd. of Elec. Workers, 82 Nev. 277, 280, 416 P.2d
387, 388 (1966).

At the time the complaint was filed, there was no issue of ongoing violation,

and plaintiffs did not at any time seek an injunction. Plaintiffs were former

employees of A Cab. Plaintiffs argue they obtained an injunction because form



injunctive language against the class members settling their claims outside of this
case was included in the order of class certification, and plaintiffs obtained an
injunction against Judge Delaney from proceeding in a separate action. This Court
reversed the injunction against Judge Delaney. Neither of these “injunctions” was
in any way related to the general request for an injunction against future MWA
violation by A Cab included in the boilerplate language of the three complaints.

That a court’s interlocutory orders may include injunctive elements does not
make a complaint that does not plead a claim for an injunction sufficient to invoke
the jurisdiction of the district court. Similarly, that plaintiffs improperly sought by
motion and obtained an injunction agaiﬁst Judge Delaney cannot retroactively
confer subject matter jurisdiction on Judge Cory. If that jurisdiction did not exist
when the complaint was filed, it does not exist. No claim for injunctive relief was
pleaded in the complaint. The district court did not obtain subject matter
jurisdiction on that basis. Castillo v. United Fed. Credit Union, 134 Nev. 13, 19,
409 P.3d 54, 59 (2018) (only a genuine claim for an injunction invokes district
court jurisdiction).

Plaintiffs argue the justice courts have no jurisdiction over claims brought
under the Nevada Constitution. This is nonsense. Justice courts have jurisdiction

granted by the Nevada Constitution over civil claims as defined by the legislature



in NRS 4.370. Many of these civil cases are brought regarding claims under the
Nevada Constitution. Nothing in the Nevada Constitution would preclude a class
action suit in justice court; such actions are authorized by JCRCP 23. Plaintiffs
cite no authority for the proposition that justice courts have no jurisdiction over
civil cases raising claims under the Nevada Constitution.*

Plaintiffs argue that the language of Castillo disallowing aggregation of
claims was dicta. The no-aggregation language in Castillo was its primary
holding. Although this Court—in refusing to depublish Castillo—stated that the
language addressing aggregation was arguably dicta, it did not recede from that
language. AA 9296.

That district court jurisdiction was found to exist because an injunction was
sought does not make the dispositive discussion in Castillo about aggregation
superfluous or dicta. Had aggregation been available, it would not have been
necessary for this Court to address jurisdiction based on the claim for an
injunction. Had there not been a claim for an injunction, this Court’s decision

would have been to affirm the district court’s finding that there was no jurisdiction

“In district court, plaintiffs convinced Judge Cory multiple times to ignore
procedure and law because their MWA claims were based on the Nevada
Constitution. Judge Cory’s zeal to vindicate the constitution led him to commit
multiple errors.

10



based on the amount in controversy, and that would have been the dispositive
ruling of the case. It was the dispositive ruling on that issue, and that issue was
not unneéessary to the opinion. Indeed, a review of the structure of the opinion
demonstrates that the discussion of jurisdiction by injunction was secondary.

Because reversal was based on a single ground does not render discussion
of all other issues in the opinion dicta. Such a broad application of the dicta rule
would call into question much of the decided law in Nevada. Often multiple
issues are addressed, discussed, and decided, although reversal (or affirmance)
technically results only from a single issue. The doctrine of dicta is designed to
disavow unfortunate language that was not directed to an issue fully considered
and decided by the Court. When two issues are addressed head on and decided,
and one leads to reversal but the other would not have, the discussion of neither
issue is properly reduced to dicta.

In any event, whether characterized as dicta or holding, Castillo establishes
that at the time this case was filed, and at the time judgment was rendered, based
on the law that then existed, it was this Court’s opinion that aggregation of claims
would not invoke the jurisdiction of the district court as a matter of constitutional
law. A later change in the Rule could not have retroactively created subject matter

jurisdiction where it did not otherwise exist.

11



C. The District Court’s Severance Order Was An Abuse of
Discretion.

Plaintiffs argue that A Cab “does not explain how the district court abused
it$ discretion in severing the claims against Nady.” RAB 19. This assertion is
confusing, at best. To be clear, the district court severed the claims to artificially
create finality after it was explained to the district court that merely bifurcating the
trial on the claims would not create finality. That ulterior motive in aid of winning
the road race with Judge Delaney reeks of abuse of discretion.

Further, the claims are too closely related and intertwined to simply sever.
Plaintiffs’ argument that A Cab never argued below “there were unitary issues”
that should not be severed is nonsense. Plaintiffs’ counsel suggested that because
the trial had been bifurcated, the judgment would be final. Undersigned counsel
informed the district court that it would take severance of claims to create finality.
Plaintiffs’ counsel recognized the finality issue, and was not willing to dismiss the
closely related claims against Nady in order to get finality. I argued that severance
was not proper, as follows:

Mr. Wall:  There’s a difference between severing cases and making

two cases out of them when you’ve have cases that are consolidated

and then you sever them.

Then once they’re consolidated they’re one case and when
they’re severed they’re separate cases. Here we’ve bifurcated. That’s

12



a completely different thing. You can’t make [take] one case and

sever it into two cases. So we have bifurcated here the issues that

have been resolved, and although the mistake that Mr. Greenberg

made in [a prior] case is unfortunate, it doesn’t justify the argument

he’s made in this case as to finality.
AA 7450. The argument that the claims should not be severed because there was
only one, indivisible action was made and understood by the district court.
Finality was created artificially by severing claims in a case with unitary issues.
Although the words “unitary issues” were not uttered, that does not mean the
argument was not made. Finally, plaintiffs’ arguments on page 21 of the
answering brief that the claims are separate could not more forcefully demonstrate
why severance of the claims was improper. Bifurcation may have been justified

by those arguments, but severance was not.

D.  The Statute of Limitations Was Improperly Tolled on Stale
Claims Unrelated to the Notice Issue.

Plaintiffs argue there is a factual issue as to the notice that was given to the
employees regarding their minimum wage rights. This is sophistry. At no time
below did plaintiffs argue that notice was not properly posted in compliance with
the instructions from the State Labor Commissioner. The issue below was solely
whether individual notices handed to each employee are required by the MWA.

Plaintiffs argue that it “is impossible to interpret the use of the words “each

13



of its employees” to require anything but notification in hand to each employee
individually. RAB 28. That is quite the overstatement. Each employee could be
given notice by a single notice that went to all. Each applies to the employees,
who are plural, not to the notice, which in the MWA is singular. At the very least,
the notice provision of the MWA is subject to differing interpretations. The State
Labor Commissioner did not find A Cab’s (and every other cab company’s)
understanding of the requirement to be “impossible;” it ordered posting of notice
to all in é conspicuous place. For the reasons expressed at page 46 of the opening
brief, we suggest this is a more reasonable construction of the language of the
MWA.

Reading words and phrases from a statute or constitution with blinders on
and insisting there is no ambiguity is fraught with danger. Most words standing
alone are ambiguous. The plain language rule is supposed to be an aid for
ascertaining intent, which is supreme, not a substitute for it, or a trap for the
drafter.

Although plain language is useful in determining intent, plain language
must never be a substitute for intent. “The leading rule of statutory construction is
to ascertain the intent of the legislature in enacting the statute.” McKay v. Bd. of

Supervisors of Carson City, 102 Nev. 644, 650, 730 P.2d 438, 443 (1986). This

14



paramount rule is sometimes lost in expressions of the standard of review.
Compare Dezzani v. Kern & Assocs., Ltd., 134 Nev. 61, 64,412 P.3d 56, 59
(2018) (reh'g denied (2018)) (“To determine legislative intent, we first consider
and give effect to the statute’s plain meaning because that is the best indicator of
the Legislature’s intent.”) (citations omitted) with Harris Assocs. v. Clark Cty.
Sch. Dist., 119 Nev. 638, 641-42, 81 P.3d 532, 534 (2003) (“When the words of
the statute have a definite and ordinary meaning, this court will not look beyond
the plain language of the statute, unless it is clear that this meaning was not
intended. However, if a statute is ambiguous, the plain meaning rule of statutory
construction is inapplicable, and the drafter’s intent becomes the controlling factor
in statutory construction.”) (citations and internal punctuation omitted).

Although these formulations of the standard are similar, we suggest the
articulation of the rule in Dezzani is superior to the sfatement in Harris. The
“unless” clause in Harris is often ignored in application of that standard. Courts
use the plain language to ascertain intent, intent does not become important only
when the language is ambiguous. This is a slippery slope that could give meaning
to an interpretation of the statute based on one reading of the language that seems
plain to one reader, even when a different intent is manifest. A court should never

conclude, “A is what the legislature intended, but the plain language says B, so we

15



are stuck with B.” Intent should always be the controlling factor.

Judge Cory found the language of the MWA to be plain, but the Labor
Commissioner and every cab company in the state are of the opinion that it plainly
says that posted notice to all is sufficient, based both on its plain language and
decades of history. There can be no doubt the MWA could have been understood
by the voters to require the same type of notice as had always been required. The
MWA does not require individual notice in clear, unambiguous terms. It uses the
word each rather than all, but when the entire provision is read in context, “each”
does not preclude notice to all (which is notice to each) by the method of posting;
indeed, the MWA says nothing about the method of providing notice. The focus
on a single word to adopt a construction of the MWA the district court found to be
unreasonable (although it felt bound by it) was error.’

Plaintiffs follow with a string of non sequiturs regarding service of process,
opining that employers who post notices conspicuously do so with intent to hide
information. They argue that service of process is required, even if parties know
about a case and potential claims against them. They recite cases where no notice

was given which resulted in tolling of the statute of limitation. This is an exercise

’It resulted in an absurd application of the statute of limitation, as set forth
in the opening brief. Plaintiffs have not addressed the absurdity of the district
court’s statute of limitation application.

16



in legerdemain. This case has nothing to do with service of process, or the
concerns of process. A Cab posted the notices prominently; there is no evidence
of an intent to hide information, nor is there evidence that any claimant failed to
file in a timely fashion because he or she was not informed of his or her rights.
These arguments are unrelated to what happened in this case, and are based on
speculation. A Cab believes its arguments in the opening brief to be better
reasoned. Even if individual notice was requiréd, a doubtful premise at best, the
remedy is not to toll the statute of limitation on stale claims unrelated to the notice
issue.

E. A Cab’s Tripsheets Satisfy NRS 608.115.

Plaintiffs assert that the district court properly shifted their burden of proof
to A Cab because A Cab did not keep adequate records as required by NRS
608.115, which states:

1. Every employer shall establish and maintain records of wages for

the benefit of his or her employees, showing for each pay period the

following information for each employee:

(a) Gross wage or salary other than compensation in the form of:
(1) Services; or
(2) Food, housing or clothing.

(b) Deductions.

17



(c) Net cash wage or salary.

(d) Except as otherwise provided in NRS 608.215, total hours
employed in the pay period by noting the number of hours per day.

(e) Date of payment.

NRS 706.8844 more particularly describes how such records are to be kept
on the tripsheets. This method of record keeping is used by every cab company
and common carrier in Nevada, and is approved by every regulating body, both
federal and state.

The information in the tripsheets is comprehensive, including every trip,
every break, and every minute of every work period.® From this information,
individual cab drivers who requested information as to any particular pay period
were easily provided with such information as required by the statute. From this
information, plaintiffs admittedly could have calculated all hours worked, all

amounts paid, and any deficiency. As conceded by plaintiffs in the answering

%In the second amended complaint, the only complaint containing any
specific allegations regarding the non-payment of minimum wage, plaintiffs
alleged the information in the tripsheets was fraudulent, but provided no proof of
even a single fraudulent entry. AA 587-88. Now plaintiffs disavow the fraud
claims in the complaints, claiming this was just a failure to pay case, but this
Court’s review of the second amended complaint will verify that the primary claim
asserted was that A Cab compelled the cab drivers to make fraudulent entries in
the tripsheets, which resulted in underpayment of wages.

18



brief multiple times,’ all the information required by the statute is contained in the
tripsheets. The wages can be calculated from the tripsheets with respect to each
pay period. Indeed, plaintiffs’ “experts” did partial calculations of particular pay
periods from the few tripsheets they reviewed.

NRS 608.115 does not specify the form of the records that must be kept,
only the information that must be kept. Because all of the information is kept on
the tripsheets, A Cab—and every other cab company in Nevada—did not violate
NRS 608.115 by not keeping records in a form plaintiffs’ counsel would have
preferred.

F.  Summary Judgment Was Improper.

Plaintiffs admit that the district court granted summary judgment as a
sanction because Nady did not pay the Special Master to review the tripsheets.
Plaintiffs insist that they calculated damages for the period of 2013-2015 based on
documents A Cab admitted were accurate and complete, but they made this false
assertion in their motion filed on November 2, 2017, and in every motion paper
filed thereafter. It was denied in every responsive motion paper filed by A Cab.

But plaintiffs continue to insist that the number of hours they calculated must be

"“A Cab’s tripsheets . . . contained information from which such hours could
be calculated.” RAB 6.

19



fair, because it was calculated from A Cab’s books which A Cab admitted were
correct. A Cab admitted nothing, and it would have been just as improper for

A Cab to speculate a number of hours worked from documents that did not show a
number of hours worked as it was for plaintiffs to make such speculations. That
A Cab presented no counter-speculation is hardly a reason to validate plaintiffs’
speculations.

Plaintiffs made their calculations from QuickBooks that did not contain the
necessary data for such calculations. So they speculated from the QuickBooks an
average number of hours worked per week, applied it to every cab driver, applied
it to the period of time of the QuickBooks they analyzed, and then Judge Cory
applied the same estimate to other periods of time, based on no evidence of any
kind. Plaintiffs did not analyze the tripsheets, the only documents from which
their damages could be calculated. A Cab authenticated the QuickBooks, but
argued consistently that those books serve a different purpose and do not contain
information from which total hours or total pay could be calculated. Plaintiffs
“experts,” prepared speculations as to damages for the period of 2013-2015 based

on the QuickBooks.®

®Actually, the spread sheets were created by Bass, a former cab driver, using
information and a methodology provided by Greenberg. Greenberg insisted no
expert analysis was required, because it was just simple arithmetic. Greenberg did

20



Judge Cory rejected the methodology as unsound, concluded that a reliable
calculation would require analysis of the tripsheets, and appointed a Master at
A Cab’s expense to do the calculation. Although A Cab authenticated the
QuickBooks, that is not an admission that plaintiffs’ calculations are anything but
speculations. There was an even further “guestimate” for the remaining time
periods of applying 9.21 hours across the board. RAB 41,

Plaintiffs state throughout the answering brief that A Cab’s expert said the
spreadsheets were “impressive” but plaintiffs cut-off his statement. In reality,
Scott Leslie, CPA, stated the spreadsheet, “though impressive is meaningless.”
Leslie was impressed with the sorting and different functions, but he quickly
explained that the calculations were based on wrong assumptions. “One is that it
relies on bad assumptions and two, it doesn’t perform the testing it needs to be

done to come to the conclusions that you’re trying to come to.” AA 5949-5951.

not timely disclose any expert, and insisted that Bass and Clauretie, when they
were challenged, were not experts, did not have to be disclosed, and did not have
to do reports, but hedged his bets when Judge Cory said expert analysis was
necessary and allowed disclosure of experts long after close of discovery.

AA 4301. Plaintiffs’ alleged experts merely confirmed the addition and
multiplication was correct; they never opined the methodology was sound. Judge
Cory never ruled on the pending motions to disqualify Bass and Clauretie,
recognized they were not disclosed and were not experts, but then relied on their
spread sheets in entering judgment in order to win the road race with Judge
Delaney, all because A Cab allegedly had not provided plaintiffs with an easier
way to prove damages.
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Throughout Leslie’s testimony, he was clear that the correct arithmetic in the
speadsheets did not result in accurate calculations of damages, because the
methodology and assumptions were not correct. AA 5949-961.

Plaintiffs fail to note that the district court did not grant their November 2,
2017 motion with respect to any period of time until August of 2018. The district
court took a several day recess to review the numbers presented by plaintiffs’
“experts,” and then rejected them because he could not follow them, and the
methodology was not sound. AA 4301. But then Judge Cory granted summary
judgment as a sanction against A Cab for not having paid to prove plaintiffs’
damages.

Plaintiffs argue that A Cab was not denied a trial because it had no evidence
to present at trial anyway, and suggest that A Cab could have speculated a
different damages figure but did not do so. A Cab argued consistently that an
actual damages number (which it believes is zero or close to zero) could be
calculated from the tripsheets, and it was plaintiffs’ burden to present evidence to
support its claims. The district court originally agreed, denying summary
judgment to both sides, but telling plaintiffs it would be their burden to prove
damages at trial, and they could not do so based on the methodology employed by

their “experts.”
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But Judge Cory did an about face when he saw he would lose the road race
if he insisted on proof of damages, and concluded that a guess at damages was all
that was available, for which he blamed A Cab. This is hardly an application of
Anderson v. Mt. Clemens Pottery Co., 328 U.S. 680, 686-687 (1946), which
allowed estimated damages only after the plaintiff shouldered his burden of
proving the existence of actual damages, based on a formula that approximated the
amount owed, when no records from which actual damages could be calculated
existed. This was not reliance on an estimate because that is all that is available,
as was Anderson. This was rely on speculatioﬁ already declared unsound when all
the documents necessary to prove actual damages were available but could not be
analyzed in time for trial or in time to win the road race, although plaintiffs were
in possession of the documents for years, and had made a conscious choice not to
analyze them. In Anderson, the burden shifted only after plaintiff carried his
burden; in this case, plaintiffs did nothing except ask for a handout based on
speculation they may not have been paid a minimum wage.

G. The District Court Erred by Adding A Party to the Judgment
After the Judgment Was Entered.

Plaintiffs cannot add an entity to a judgment after the judgment is entered,

and argue that the entity has a burden to demonstrate it is an entity. No theory of
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due process or civil procedure would allow a party claiming to be a separate entity
to be added to a judgment subject to its after-the-fact burden to demonstrate its
own existence. Notice and an opportunity to be heard come before, not after
judgment.

Plaintiffs insist repeatedly that there is only one appellant because A Cab,
LLC, and A Cab Series, LLC, is one and the same entity. Plaintiffs rely ona
single piece of paper filed by Nady with the Secretary of State indicating that the
name of A Cab, LLC, is now A Cab Series, LLC. AA 8748. Nady does not
suggest that this is a name change, or when the change occurred. This change
occurred in 2012. Hence, no additional documents were filed in 2017.

Although the organization of A Cab Series, LLC, and its separation from
A Cab, LLC, as an entity happened in 2012, Jay Nady filed this notice in 2017 as a
clarification of the current name of the series (not a suggestion that A Cab, LLC,
had become A Cab Series, LLC.), because of litigation in other cases not involving
A Cab, to clarify the name of the company that was operating as a series of
separate entities as allowed by NRS 86.151 and NRS 86.296. This was not a
change in the structure, business organization, name or operation of the series,
which was established in 2012.

The so-called “name-change” document has no impact on the structure of
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A Cab Series, LLC, nor does it change the fact that A Cab, LLC, and A Cab
Series, LLC, are not one and the same. Plaintiffs assert that when A Cab, LLC,
reorganized as a series in 2012, the change did not create a new entity, just a new
form of operation. RAB 49. This is incorrect.

A Cab Series, LLC, is a company operating as ‘a series of separate entities as
allowed by NRS 86.151 and NRS 86.296. A Cab Series, LLC, was created in
2012 as a new series company. The separate components within the company,
which are themselves separate entities, were never created pursuant to NRS
86.141; they were organized through the authority granted in organizing
documents to the members and managers to create separate series. They operate
as separate entities as a matter of law. NRS 86.296(2). The series are separate and
distinct, and the debts, liabilities, obligations and expenses of the series are
enforceable only against that series. NRS 86.296(3). Sworn testimony was
submitted below attesting to the separation of finances. These records were
submitted to a Special Master who did not find that the entities were not separate.
NRS 86.1255 states that series are intended to be separate entities. A Series of an
LLC may “sue and be sued, complain and defend, in its own name” under NRS
86.296(2)(c). Although plaintiffs insist that A Cab, LLC, and A Cab Series, LLC,

are the same entity for purposes of suing, being sued, and liability, they are wrong
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as a matter of law.

Plaintiffs insist they did not add a new party to the judgment after the
judgment was entered, but that is precisely what they did. Plaintiffs ignore the
many filings with the Secretary of State, and other documents in this case,
supposing to have found their silver bullet in the “name change” document which
was filed by Nady. They insist that the shield of NRS 86.296(3) was not invoked,
and argue that A Cab had the obligation to prove otherwise. They ignore that the
district court refused to allow A Cab Series, LLC, to prove its structure, AA 9865,
and that A Cab Series, LLC, is a single company created and organized under the

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